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Independent Auditors’ Report



SULLIVAN, ROGERS & COMPANY, LLC
Corporate Place I, Suite 204 + 99 South Bedford Street
Burlington, Massachusetts 01803

P «781-229-5600 F . 781-229-5610 www.sullivan-rogers.com

Certified Public Accountants

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Honorable Board of Selectmen
Town of Hamilton, Massachusetts

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Hamilton,
Massachusetts, as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, which collectively comprise the Town's basic
financial statements as listed in the table of contents. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Town of Hamilton, Massachusetts’ management. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial
statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by
the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the Town of Hamilton, Massachusetts, as of June 30, 2008, and the respective
changes in financial position and cash flows, where applicable, thereof for the year then ended in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 13, 2009, on
our consideration of the Town of Hamilton, Massachusetts’ internal control over financial reporting and on our
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in conjunction with this report in considering the results

of our audit.



The management’s discussion and analysis information (located on pages 4 through 12) and budgetary
comparison for the general fund and certain pension information (located on pages 51 through 55) are nota
required part of the basic financial statements but are supplementary information required by accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. We have applied certain limited procedures, which
consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the
supplementary information. However, we did not audit the information and express no opinion on it.

Lo NS R ooy, LLE

November 13, 2009
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Managemenl’s Discussion and Analysis For the Tiscal Year Ended June 30, 2008

As management of the Town of Hamilton, Massachusetts (Town), we offer readers of these financial statements
this narrative overview and analysis of the Town’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008.

Financial Highlights

» The assets of the Town exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year by $15,695,028 (net
assets). Of this amount, $2,444,567 (unrestricted net assets) may be used to meet the government’s
ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.

» The Town's total net assets increased by $185,937 in the current fiscal year.

>  As of the close of the fiscal year, the Town’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund
balances totaling $4,068,789, a decrease of $193,099 in comparison with the prior year. Approximately
$3,407,000 represents unreserved fund balance.

» Atthe end of the fiscal year, undesignated fund balance for the general fund totaled $494,333, or 2.1
percent of total general fund expenditures and transfers out. In the prior year, undesignated fund
balance for the general fund totaled $357,780.

» The Town's total bonded debt decreased by $625,000 during fiscal year 2008; no new debt was issued
during the fiscal year.

Overview of the Basic Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the basic financial statements, which consists
of the following three components:

1. Government-wide financial statements
2. Fund financial statements
3. Notes to the basic financial statements.

This report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements.

Government-wide financial statements

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the Town’s
finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business.

The statement of net assets presents information on all of the Town’s non-fiduciary assets and liabilities, with the
difference between the two reported as net assets. Over time, increases or decreases in net assets may serve as a
useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Town is improving or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the government’s net assets changed during the
most recent fiscal year. All changes in net assets are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the
change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this
statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes, earned
but unused vacation leave, etc.).

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the Town that are principally
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are
intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities).
Governmental activities include general government, public safety, education, public works, health and human
services, culture and recreation, and debt service (interest). Business-type activities include the water and waste
removal operations.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2008

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 15-17 of this report.

Fund financial statements

A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated
for specific activities or objectives. The Town, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to
ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds can be divided into
the following categories and are described below:

1. Governmental funds
2. Proprietary funds
3. Fiduciary funds

Governmental Funds

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in
the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial statements,
governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of expendable resources, as well
as on balances of expendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in
evaluating a government’s near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is
useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better
understand the long-term effect of the government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental funds
balance sheet and the governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances
provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.

The Town maintains 66 individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the governmental
funds balance sheet and in the governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund
balances for the general fund, stabilization (special revenue) fund, community preservation (special revenue)
fund and police/ fire station (capital project) fund, which are considered to be major funds. Data from the other
62 governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation titled nonmajor governmental funds.
The basic governmental funds financial statements can be found on pages 18-23 of this report.

Proprietary funds

The Town maintains one type of proprietary fund.

Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-
wide financial statements. The Town uses enterprise funds to account for its water and waste removal
operations, which are considered to be major funds.

The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 24-26 of this report.

Fiduciary funds

Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the government.
Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources of those

funds are not available to support the Town’s programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is similar to
that used for proprietary funds.
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Managemenl’s Discussion and Analysis For Lhe Fiscal Year Iinded June 30, 2008

Private-purpose trust funds are reported and combined into a single, aggregate presentation in the fiduciary fund
financial statements under the caption “private purpose trust funds”.

The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on pages 27-28 of this report.
Notes to the basic financial statements

The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the
government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the financial statements can be found on pages 29-
50 of this report.

Other information

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain required
supplementary information. Presented in this information is the budget comparison for the general fund and
certain pension information, which can be located on pages 51-55 of this report.

Government-Wide Financial Analysis

The following tables present current and prior year data on the government-wide financial statements.

Net Assets

As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. The
Town’s assets exceeded liabilities by $15,695,028 at the close of the fiscal year and are summarized as follows:
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Management's Discussion and Analysis For the Fiscal Year Iinded June 30, 2008

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
Assets
Currentassets..............covoveneenn $ 5,015,168 $ 5,456,806 $ 410,087 $ 396,276 $ 5425255 5 5,853,082
Noncurrent assets (excluding
capital assets)..................... 102,133 72,284 - - 102,133 72,284
Capital assets (net).................... 14,321,381 14,295,578 5,782,106 5,953,622 20,103,487 20,249,200
Total assets............... e 19,438,682 19,824,668 6,192,193 6,349,898 25,630,875 26,174,566
Liabilities
Current liabilities
(excluding debt).................. 462,434 555,476 45,928 50,535 508,362 606,011
Noncurrent liabilities
(excluding debt).................. 365,440 376,509 22,045 17,955 387,485 394,464
Currentdebt............ccooeverenncn. 440,000 445,000 175,000 180,000 615,000 625,000
Noncurrent debt............ W 6,500,000 6,940,000 1,925,000 2,100,000 8,425,000 9,040,000
Total liabilities.................... 7,767,874 8,316,985 2,167,973 2,348,490 9,935,847 10,665,475
Net Assets
Invested in capital assets
(net of related debt).............. 7,461,909 6,947,904 3,682,106 3,673,622 11,144,015 10,621,526
Restricted.,,....ooverviniiioniineninnn. 2,106,446 1,912,645 - - 2,106,446 1,912,645
Unrestricted............oooevinnnns 2,102,453 2,647,134 342,114 327,786 2,444,567 2,974,920
Total net assets.................... $ 11,670,808 $ 11,507,683 $  4,024220 $ 4,001,408 $ 15695028 $ 15,509,091

The largest portion of the Town's net assets (71.0%) reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, land
improvements, buildings and improvements, machinery and equipment, vehicles, library books, software, and
infrastructure); less any related outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. These capital assets are used to
provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the
investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to
repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to
liquidate these liabilities.

An additional portion of the Town's net assets (13.4%) represents resources that are subject to external restrictions
on how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net assets (15.6% or $2,444,567) represents
unrestricted net assets and may be used to meet the Town’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. Of this
amount, $2,102,453 may be used to support governmental activities and $342,114 may be used to support
business-type activities.

At the end of the current fiscal year, the Town reports positive balances in all three categories of net assets, both
for the government as a whole, as well as for its separate governmental and business-type activities.

Changes in Net Assets

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, the Town’s total net assets increased by $185,937, compared to an increase
of $916,063 in the prior fiscal year. These amounts are summarized as follows:
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2008

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
Revenues
Program Reveues:
Charges fOr SeIVICeS........uuuiiimuieniiiaiin i eias e e viraanes $ 913,474 § 819,825 § 842,479 % 868,164 $ 1,755,953 § 1,687,989
Operating grants and contributions............ccocceervvirvannnieia 1,102,430 1,212,740 10,943 325 1,113,373 1,213,065
Capital grants and contributions.............ccoiiiiniiciinnn 334,962 216,875 - - 334,962 216,875
Genernl Revenues:
Real estate and personal property taxes and tax liens........... 19,781,107 18,790,748 - - 19,781,107 18,790,748
Motor vehicle and other excise taxes 969,319 943,138 - - 969,319 943,138
Penalties and interest on taxes 58,523 53,572 - - 58,523 53,572
Payments in lieu of taXes.........ovvviveeeeeerinniiiiieinieeiiennns 34,947 32,978 - - 34,947 32,978
Community preservation surcharges...............ccccevvvvennne. 321,718 305,576 - - 321,718 305,576
Grants and contributions not restricted
t0 SPecific PrOgrams........cciviiiiiiiniiiiiieeciiieiinranrieinees 944,513 926,580 = - 944,513 926,580
Unrestricted investment iNCOMe..........oovoviieiiinnenniniaieens 79,785 255,101 - - 79,785 255,101
Totalirevenues. . .. st S e g et 24,540,778 23,557,133 853,422 868,489 25,394,200 24,425,622
Expenses
General GOVEIMMENL. . uu.iaeiciiineeiiiiiieniniiieesianeairaeesrnninens 1,489,046 1,470,729 - - 1,489,046 1,470,729
Public safety 3,851,180 3,380,031 - - 3,851,180 3,380,031
Education.. 14,661,560 13,911,349 - - 14,661,560 13,911,349
Public works 1,929,613 2,008,165 - - 1,929,613 2,008,165
376,034 384,635 - - 376,034 384,635
1,701,739 1,172,698 - - 1,701,739 1,172,698
353,355 381,193 - - 353,355 381,193
- - 834,393 800,759 834,393 800,759
Waste removal....... - - 11,343 - 11,343 -
Total expenses 24,362,527 22,708,800 845,736 800,759 25,208,263 23,509,559
Change in net assets before transfers........ccocviiiuiirieiiiniiinreernnrones 178,251 848,333 7,686 67,730 185,937 916,063
TTANSIETS, MEL. w1 ciiiiiiiiinrrnnreranrennreenrers s rernesannsesrareessartonare (15,126) (47,906) 15,126 47,906 . -
Change in Nt aS5eES. .. uuuuiuucrrieriaiiressssarsemsniersmrersnsiansennsssnnnns 163,125 800,427 22,812 115,636 185,937 916,063
Net assets - beginning of year... 11,507,683 10,707,256 4,001,408 3,885,772 15,509,091 14,593,028
Net assets -end of year.............ccccccremmmiirimiiraiin e, $ 11,670,808 $ 11,507,683 $ 4,024,220 $ 4,001,408 $ 15,695,028 % 15,509,091

Governmental activities increased the Town’'s net assets by $163,125. In the prior year, governmental activities
increased the Town’s net assets by $800,427. The key element of this change is an increase in capital articles that
were appropriately not capitalized as fixed assets.

Business-type activities increased the Town'’s net assets by $22,812. In the prior year, business-type activities

increased the Town’s net assets by $115,636. The key elements of this change are an increase in cost of service and
administration of approximately $34,000 and a decrease in charges for services of approximately $26,000.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2008

Fund Financial Statement Analysis

As noted earlier, the Town uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements.

Governmental funds

The focus of the governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of
expendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the Town's financing requirements. In particular,
unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s net resources available for spending at
the end of the fiscal year.

At the end of the current fiscal year, the governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances totaling
$4,068,789, a decrease of $193,099 in comparison with the prior year. 83.7% of this total amount ($3,407,056)
represents undesignated fund balance. The remainder of fund balance is reserved to indicate that it is not
available for new spending because it has already been committed to:

Liquidate contracts and purchase orders of the prior period ($157,035)
Loans ($26,176)

Perpetual permanent funds ($295,465)

Other specific purposes ($183,057)

YV VYV

The general fund is the chief operating fund of the Town. At the end of the current fiscal year, undesignated fund
balance of the general fund totaled $494,333, while total fund balance was $651,368. As a measure of the general
fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare both undesignated fund balance and total fund balance to total
general fund expenditures and transfers out. Undesignated fund balance represents 2.1% of total general fund
expenditures and transfers out, while total fund balance represents 2.8% of that same amount.

The balance of the Town’s general fund decreased by $264,767 during fiscal year 2008. The Town recognized a
positive budget to actual variance (excluding encumbrances and continuing appropriations) totaling
approximately $304,000, and used approximately $631,000 of reserves to fund the fiscal year 2008 budget.

Financial highlights of the Town’s other major governmental funds are as follows:

The fund balance of the stabilization fund (special revenue) increased by $21,056 during the current fiscal year,
which is attributable to investment earnings.

The fund balance of the community preservation fund (special revenue) increased by $472,557 during the current
fiscal year. The fund recognized $322,536 in surcharges, $306,399 in intergovernmental revenues and $44,592 in
investment income. Expenditures of $200,970 were incurred during the fiscal year.

The fund balance of the police/fire station fund (capital project) decreased by $163,634 during the current fiscal
year, which is attributable to expenditures incurred during the year.

Proprietary funds

The Town’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide financial
statements, but in more detail.

Unrestricted net assets of the water and waste removal enterprise funds at the end of the year amounted to
$326,337 and $15,777, respectively. The water fund had an increase in net assets for the year of $7,035 and the
waste removal fund had an increase of $15,777. Other factors concerning the finances of these two funds have
already been addressed in the discussion of the Town’s business-type activities.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2008

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

The original general fund budget of $23,027,819 was increased by $59,083 (0.3%) during the fiscal year. The
following table summarizes the increase:

Purpose of Increase Amount Funding Source
Purchase of two DPW pick-up trucks.......... $ 54,000 Undesignated fund balance
Prior year unpaid bill.............................. 5,083 Undesignated fund balance
Total INCIease.......ccoovvv i $ 59,083

During the year, general fund revenues and transfers out exceeded budgetary estimates, while expenditures and
encumbrances and continuing appropriations were less than budgeted appropriations, resulting in a positive
budget to actual variance of approximately $147,000. Encumbrances and continuing appropriations total
approximately $157,000 at year-end.

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital assets

The Town’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business type activities at the end of the fiscal
year totaled $20,103,487 (net of accumulated depreciation). This investment in capital assets includes land, land
improvements, buildings and improvements, machinery and equipment, vehicles, library books, and
infrastructure. The total decrease in the investment in capital assets for the current fiscal year totaled $145,713, or
0.7% (a 0.1% increase for governmental activities and a 0.8% decrease for business-type activities).

Major capital asset events that occurred during the current fiscal year include the following:
» Public safety building improvements ($151,748)
» Purchase of an ambulance ($133,784)
» Purchase of a tractor ($76,750)
»  Continued reconstruction of roadways ($254,040)

The following table summarizes the Town's capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation):

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
Land......ccoooiiiii $ 796,875 $ 796,875 $ 283,912 $ 283,912 § 1,080,787 % 1,080,787
Land improvements.................. 267,049 285,518 - - 267,049 285,518
Buildings and improvements....... 10,309,479 10,464,891 2,573,000 2,635,000 12,882,479 13,099,891
Machinery and equipment.......... 132,896 118,684 15,225 20,475 148,121 139,159
Vehicles..........cooooiniiiiinccnnns 484,268 390,955 27,169 34,931 511,437 425,886
Library books................coceee 119,549 146,116 - - 119,549 146,116
Infrastructure........coooocoivvennnes 2,211,265 2,092,539 2,882,800 2,979,304 5,094,065 5,071,843
Total capital assets.................... $ 14,321,381 $ 14,295,578  § 5,782,106 $ 5953,622  $ 20,103,487 $ 20,249,200

Additional information on the Town'’s capital assets can be found in Note 5 on pages 42-43 of this report.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2008

Long-Term Debt

At the end of the current fiscal year, total bonded debt outstanding was $9,040,000, which is backed by the full
faith and credit of the Town, and is summarized as follows:

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
General obligation bonds............... $ 6,715,000 § 7,135,000 $ 2,100,000 $ 2,280,000 $ 8815000 % 9,415,000
State House Serial Loan Notes......... 225,000 250,000 - - 225,000 250,000
Total bonds and notes................... $ 6,940,000 $ 7,385,000 $ 2,100,000 $ 2,280,000 $ 9,040,000 § 9,665,000

The Town's total bonded debt decreased by $625,000 during the current fiscal year; no new debt was issued
during the fiscal year.

Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. assigned an “A1” rating on bonds issued during fiscal year 2006.
Additional information on the Town's long-term debt can be found in Note 9 on pages 46-48 of this report.
Economic Factors, Next Year's Budget and Rates

The following factors were considered in preparing the Town'’s fiscal year 2009 budget:

The development of the fiscal year 2009 general fund operating budget was influenced by the Massachusetts
Property tax limitation of annual levy growth to 2 ¥%:%; the slowing in new growth to the tax base; continued
increase in fuel and utility costs; wage increases in union and non-union contracts; the implementation of a Pay-
As-You-Throw for waste removal; the School Committee’s recommendation to fund at level service and increase
funding to specific programs to reduce out placement of students with special needs; the need to replace 3
vehicles for Public Safety and Department of Public Works; and the direct impact of reduced excise tax receipts.
The total increase for the fiscal year 2009 budget is a 4.64% increase in Town Expenses and a 10.34% increase in
School District expense combined with a reduction in other funding sources such as local revenues of 10.45%,
resulted in an increase of 10.26% borne by the taxpayer over fiscal year 2008.

The educational costs for the two Town regional school education systems make up 62.1% of the general fund
operating budget for the Town of Hamilton. The Hamilton-Wenham Regional School Assessment (HWRSD) for
the fiscal year 2009 operating budget went from $13,699,602 to $15,116,019, which increased 10.34% from fiscal
year 2008. The Town passed an override of $1,288,322 to support the HWRSD budget. The North Shore Regional
Vocational School assessment for fiscal year 2009 increased by less than 1% from $144,617 to $145,850.

The reduction in local revenues resulted in the Town voting an operating override of $177,000. The Town is
exploring new opportunities to grow the local revenues and increase the tax base. Two of these opportunities
include development of the landfill site for commercial use since it has direct access of a major intra-state
highway, a wind turbine study for generating electricity for Town buildings, and the pursuing of all grant
opportunities to assist with capital needs. The Town agreed to review the rate structure for Water Enterprise to
support the growing direct and indirect costs of operating the Water Plant.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Town'’s finances for all those with an
interest in its finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for
additional financial information should be addressed to the Finance Director, Town Hall, 577 Bay Road,
Hamilton, Massachusetts 01936.
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STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

JUNE 30, 2008

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents.............cccooovviiiciniininiicnni e
Restricted cash and cash equivalents..................oovciniiniciiiniiinnns
INVESEMENES. ...t
Receivables, net of allowance for uncollectible amounts:
Real estate and personal property taxes...............o.ucereerernrininn,
Tax and ubility Hens........cooivvriiiiiineiriiiiiie e
Motor vehicle and other excise taxes.............ocovvevnninierrviiiinie,
Community preservation surcharges..
Water charges...........ooocevninid
Departmental and other...
Loans..........cooevivnenns
Tax fOreClOSUTES. ... .icvueeieiriiiieri e ter s e s e e e e e e e e e e eeae e
Total CUTTENE ASSEES....0.evuviiireiiiiri e e s irii e e e e r e ae e

Noncurrent assets;
Receivables, net of allowance for uncollectible amounts:
Real estate tax deferrals.........c..ovvrvivriiinionienniiisiieneeriiiiinns,

Capital assets not being depreciated
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation...............coccieninienns

Total NONCUTITENE @SSEES.. . uuivruvsiiiieeiiiarietieieaiieeieeeiess
Total @SStS. . .vuiiinieiiiii i

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:
‘Warrants payable..........coiiiiiieeie e,
Accrued payroll...
Other liabilities..
Accrued interest..,
Capital lease obligations
Compensated absences...............
Long-term bonds and notes payable..............cc.ccciiiiniiicviniiinns

Total current liabilities.,,......... —

Noncurrent liabilities:
Capital lease obligations...........cveiiiieiii e
Compensated absences..............ovveviivinioniniviiiienneieniniinn
Long-term bonds and notes payable.............cccccccovvivviiiiiiinninninin,

Total noncurrent liabililies. .i...iiviiesiciinnieeisecensns i R
Total liabilities. ...,...... . e

NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt.................c..ovvviiiinnns
Restricted for:

Permanent funds:
Expendable......c.ooooiiiiiiiiiie e
Nonexpendable...
Other specific purposes
Unrestricted. suiivsrssssrasissmmsamisaiimaie R R i

Total Net Assels. ... coiivii i e

See notes to basic financial statements,
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Primary Government

Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total
2,196,412 % 134,061 $ 2,330,473
1,986,754 - 1,986,754
51,891 - 51,891
271,555 - 271,555
202,482 2,341 204,823
60,835 - 60,835
3,177 - 3,177
B 273,685 273,685
38,490 - 38,490
2,544 - 2,544
201,028 - 201,028
5,015,168 410,087 5,425,255
78,501 - 78,501
23,632 - 23,632
796,875 283,912 1,080,787
13,524,506 5,498,194 19,022,700
14,423,514 5,782,106 20,205,620
19,438,682 6,192,193 25,630,875
193,653 38,409 232,062
120,529 5,070 125,599
8,569 - 8,569
71,941 - 71,941
35,507 - 35,507
32,235 2,449 34,684
440,000 175,000 615,000
902,434 220,928 1,123,362
75,325 - 75,325
290,115 22,045 312,160
6,500,000 1,925,000 8,425,000
6,865,440 1,947,045 8,812,485
7,767,874 2,167,973 9,935,847
7,461,909 3,682,106 11,144,015
1,372,240 - 1,372,240
26,176 - 26,176
229,508 - 229,508
295,465 - 295,465
183,057 - 183,057
2,102,453 342,114 2,444,567
11,670,808 $ 4,024,220 $ 15,695,028

Basic Financial Statements



STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2008

Program Revenues

Operating Capital Net
Charges for Grants and Grants and (Expense)/
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Revenue
Primary government:
Governmental activities:
General government................ccccocovnes 1,489,046 $ 84,078 % 68,860 § - 0% (1,336,108)
Public safety... 3,851,180 594,871 335,713 - (2,920,596)
Education....... 14,661,560 - 4,740 - (14,656,820)
Public works................... 1,929,613 28,578 194,393 334,962 (1,371,680)
Health and human services.. 376,034 29,060 41,545 - (305,429)
Culture and recreation...... 1,701,739 176,887 457,179 - (1,067,673)
Debt service - interest........ocoevuvvvieriiinnnnns 353,355 - - (353,355)
Total governmental activities............... 24,362,527 913,474 1,102,430 334,962 (22,011,661)
Business-type activities:
Water. .., 834,393 825,879 423 - (8,091)
Waste removal..........coeviennsrmrnenreernninns 11,343 16,600 10,520 - 15,777
Total business-type activities............... 845,736 842,479 10,943 - 7.686
Total primary government...........c..cccoeevrerraneens 25,208,263 $ 1,755,953 % 1,113,373  $ 334962 5 (22,003,975)

See notes to basic financial statements,

Town of Hawnilton, Massachusetts
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STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES (Continued)

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2008

Primary Government

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
Changes in net assets:
Net (expense)/revenue (from previous Page)..........c.ccocvvveerren. §  (2,011,661) $ 7,686 $ _ (22,003,975)
General revenues:
Real estate, personal property taxes and tax liens................ 19,781,107 - 19,781,107
Motor vehicle and other excise taxes.................cooeveeiiiieen., 969,319 - 969,319
Penalties and interest on taxes.............c.cocvovvvvieeiniiniinnennn, 58,523 - 58,523
Payments in lieu 0f taXes..............ccovviinnoiienniinieeninin, 34,947 = 34,947
Community preservation Surcharges...............cccc.ooereeeeen, 321,718 - 321,718
Grants and contributions not restricted to
SPECIfIC PrOGIAIMS. ..\ eiiiiii i 944,513 - 944,513
Unrestricted investment iNCOME. .........ccoveriveiniiinenrnaennnns, 79,785 - 79,785
THANS[Ers, Met ... oviiiiii i (15,126) 15,126 -
Total general revenues, special items and transfers.................. 22,174,786 15,126 22,189,912
Change in Net assets...........o.ooeeiviireieriiiieriine e 163,125 22,812 185,937
Net assets - beginning of year..............c..coccoiivininniiiinn i, 11,507,683 4,001,408 15,509,091
Netassets - end of year................cooccoiiiviiiine $ 11,670,808 $ 4,024,220 $ 15,695,028
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GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

BALANCE SHEET
JUNE 30, 2008
Community
ASSETS General Stabilization Preservation
Cash and cash equivalents..............c.ooveeiiiiiiiin v e $ 793,339 % 619,778 % -
INVeStMENtS. .. ....oiiiii = - -
Receivables, net of allowance for uncollectible amounts:

Real estate and personal property taxes...............covveveeiivnieeiiinennniinn. 271,555 - &

Real estate tax deferrals............ccccooeeiiiiiiiiiiniiiii e 78,501 - -

TaX LIBIS. .1ttt e 202,482 - &

Motor vehicle and other excise taxes..............coveviieeiiiiiiiiiniiinnniinn. 60,835 = a

Community preservation surcharges..................cccooviviiiiiiiiiiiiniiinn, - - 3,177

Departmental and other...................i - - =

LOAMS. ..ot - < =
Tax forecloSUIeS.........o.oiiiiiii e 201,028 - -
Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents.............co.oo.oviiiiiiieeeiiiiie e - - 1,376,790
TOTAL ASSETS ...t e $ 1,607,740 $ 619,778 $ 1,379,967
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
LIABILITIES:

Warrants payable..................oooiiiini $ 166,876  $ - % 7,389

Accrued payroll.. ...t 96,833 - 338

Other liabilities..............ccooooiini i, 8,569 - =

Deferred reVENUE. ... .. ..t 684,094 - 3,177
TOTAL LIABILITIES. ..ottt ccvieeas i ssis e se e asanie e 956,372 - 10,904
FUND BALANCES:

Reserved for:

Encumbrances and continuing appropriations............................. 157,035 - -

LoAnS. ...uvviiiii - - -

Perpetual permanent funds.................ccccovviiniiininiiniin, - . -

Other specific pUrposes...............eueeeiiivierinriiiiiiiinenniiiiiniiinne, - - =

Unreserved:

Undesignated, reported in;

General fund..............cocoiii i, 494,333 - 3

Special revenue funds...............cooiiiiii - 619,778 1,369,063

Capital projects funds................oooeeiviiiiinni - & =

Permanent funds........cccovveeiinirniiii e - - =

TOTAL FUND BALANCES. ...0uitiiiiiiii it ittt ei s ar e aa e 651,368 619,778 1,369,063

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES..........coooocvoiviiiiiirienaannn, $ 1,607,740 $ 619,778 $ 1,379,967

See notes to basic financial statements.
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Nonmajor Total

Police/ Fire Governmental Governmental
Station Funds Funds

$ - % 783,295 $ 2,196,412

- 51,891 51,891

" = 271,555

- - 78,501

- - 202,482

- - 60,835

- - 3,177

- 38,490 38,490

- 26,176 26,176

- - 201,028

18,667 591,297 1,986,754

$ 18,667 $ 1,491,149 § 5,117,301

5 - 5 19,388 $ 193,653

- 23,358 120,529

- - 8,569

- 38,490 725,761

- 81,236 1,048,512

= = 157,035

- 26,176 26,176

- 295,465 295,465

- 183,057 183,057

5 > 494,333

- 484,347 2,473,188

18,667 191,360 210,027

- 229,508 229,508

18,667 1,409,913 4,068,789

$ 18,667 % 1,491,149 % 5,117,301
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GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2008

Community
General Stabilization Preservation
REVENUES
Real estate and personal property taxes................cooevieiiiiiniinnniinnn. $ 19,665,105 -8 5
Motor vehicle and other eXcisSe EaXeS.....o.vvivrviiiiiiiiriii e 965,966 = c.
25§ 1S T S 219,038 - -
Payments in liew of taXes.........o.ccooviiiin e, 34,947 - -
Community preservation SUrCharges............c.ccocevvereinienniarnnnienaenn. - - 322,536
Charges for ServiCes. . ....o.oviiiiiriiiiiii = - -
INtergovernmMental ... ... ..iiivieiii i 1,382,859 - 306,399
Special @88eSSINENES. ... . uuivtii it 3,873 = -
Penalties and interest ON taXeS. .. c.uvvii i i aaes 58,523 - -
Licenses, permits and fees............coocoviiviiniiniiin 347,691 - -
Fines and forfeitires. ... o.viii ittt v 6,726 - -
Departmental.........oociviricriiniii e 96,901 - -
CONtTIDUEONS. .1ttt e e e e e e - = -
[NVESHMENt INCOMIE. .. vttt ettt 58,723 21,056 44,592
(013 315 ORI - - -+
TOTAL REVENUES....ccititiiiiieiiiiieeeiieeiierereeiceneeegnensnannes 22,840,352 21,056 673,527
EXPENDITURES
Current:
General OVEINIMENE. ... ..coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiierieeeaes e i e e eees 1,132,042 - 15,992
Public safety.......c.coviiiiiiiiiii 2,594,851 - =
Education. .. ..o e 14,590,567 - =
PUbBLC WOTKS. ..o e 1,459,793 - =
Health and human Services............ooevieiiririeiiier e 122,589 - 5,240
Culture and reCreation..........cvvvivieiiieerrieierirees i 830,832 - 179,738
Pension benefits.......co.vviiiriiiiiei 487,990 - -
Employee benefits..........oviiiiniiiiiiiii 690,984 = =
Property and liability insurance...................ooociniinnn o, 155,108 " -
State and county charges.............coooovvii 245,602 = =
Debt service:
Principal.. ..o 445,000 . -
D0 =) . P, 357,752 - -
TOTAL EXPENDITURES.....ccooiiiiiiiiince e 23,113,110 - 200,970
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES. cicasiiiusasimiiaeiams s i il ik (272,758) 21,056 472,557
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
B =N 13 1= 35 o VN 169,418 - -
Transfers out............covoiiii (161,427) = =
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES). .......cccvvvvienes 7,991 - -
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES........coiiiiviiiiicninieiin i (264,767) 21,056 472,557
FUND BALANCES AT BEGINNING OF YEAR (AS RESTATED)........... 916,135 598,722 896,506
FUND BALANCES AT END OF YEAR .....covivetrmnernreraernerenensersnen $ 651,368 619,778 $ 1,369,063

See notes to basic financial statements.
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$

Nonmajor Total
Police/Fire Governmental Governmental
Station Funds Funds

- % - 19,665,105

- - 965,966

= - 219,038

- - 34,947

- = 322,536

- 473,773 473,773

- 554,497 2,243,755

o = 3,873

- - 58,523

- - 347,691

- - 6,726

- 5,000 101,901

- 22,812 22,812

- 42,771 167,142

- 32,956 32,956

- 1,131,809 24,666,744

- 38,252 1,186,286
163,634 364,082 3,122,567
- 8,117 14,598,684

B 462,763 1,922,556

- 7,849 135,678

- 485,940 1,496,510

- - 487,990

= = 690,984

- - 155,108

- - 245,602

- < 445,000

- - 357,752
163,634 1,367,003 24,844,717
{163,634) (235,194) (177,973)
- 17,226 186,644
= (40,343) (201,770)
- (23,117) (15,126)
(163,634) (258,311) (193,099)
182,301 1,668,224 4,261,888

18,667 % 1,409,913 % 4,068,789
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RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET
TOTAL FUND BALANCES TO THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

JUNE 30, 2008

Total governmental fund balances (Page 19)..........ceeerriiiniiiiiiniiie e $ 4,068,789

Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) used in governmental activities are not
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds............ccooieiiiiiiiiiinn. 14,321,381

Other assets are not available to pay for current period expenditures and,
therefore, are deferred in the governmental funds.............ciiiiieiiiiiiiiiiii e 725,761

In the statement of net assets, interest is accrued on outstanding long-term debt,
whereas in the governmental funds interest is not reported until due............cccocoevniiiin. (71,941)

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and,
therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds.

Bonds and notes payable, net of unamortized premiums and deferred losses on refundings............. (6,940,000)

Capital lease ODLGAtIONS. ... ..ottt e e e e e (110,832)

COmMPENSALEA @DSEICES. ...\ eeeiiiiiieeet e e e et e e e e e e et e e e e e e a e (322,350)
Net assets of governmental activities (PAGE 15).......ciiiiiiiiie i e e $ 11,670,808

See notes to basic financial statements.
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RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2008

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (page 21)..............ccooiiiiiniiiinni $ (193,099)

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of
activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and
reported as depreciation expense. These amounts represent the related activity
of the current period.
Capital OUIAYS. .....covviiniiiii o R A BUERS A BT Y e
DEPIeciation. ... ..ovuiii i e

715,766
(686,445)

In the statement of activities, only the gain/(loss) on the sale of capital assets is reported,
whereas in the governmental funds the entire proceeds of the sale are reported as
financial resources. As a result, the change in net assets differs from the change in
fund balance by the cost of the capital assets sOld..........c.ccooiiiiiiiiiiiiini (3,518)

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources
are fully deferred in the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund
balances. Therefore, the recognition of revenue for various types of accounts receivable
(i.e., real estate and personal property, motor vehicle excise, etc.) differ between the
two statements. This amount represents the net change in deferred revenue........................... (125,966)

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g., bonds and leases) provides current financial resources
to governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes
the financial resources of governmental funds. Neither transaction, however, has any
impact on net assets. Also, governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs,
premiums, discounts, and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts
are deferred and amortized in the statement of activities. These amounts represent the
related activity of the current period.

J5 7070 s B (TN B s L 445,000

34,143

In the statement of activities, interest is accrued on outstanding long-term debt,

whereas in the governmental funds interest is not reported until due. This amount

represents the net change in accrued interest payable...........coooviiviiiiiiiniiiinin 4,397
Some expenses reported in the statement activities do not require the use of current

financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds.

These amounts represent the net changes:

Compensated aDSEIICES. .. ..uvu ettt et e s bt s (27,153)

Changes in net assets of governmental activities (Page 17).......covvriiiiiriiriiiii i $ 163,125

See notes to basic financial statements.
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PROPRIETARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

JUNE 30, 2008

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Waste
ASSETS Water Removal Total
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents.................ccciviinnniiiiiiinneiniineeens $ 118,284 % 15777  $ 134,061
Receivables, net of allowance for uncollectible amounts:
Water charges.............coiiiiiiic 273,685 - 273,685
Water LIeNS. ... 2,341 - 2,341
Total current assets..........oooviiiiiiriii e 394,310 15,777 410,087
Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets not being depreciated.............coeeviveeeiiiciiiennnn. 283,912 - 283,912
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation....................... 5,498,194 - 5,498,194
Total NONCUITENt ASSES. . ..vv e it iiiienieeerarenanns 5,782,106 - 5,782,106
Total @8SEtS...uuiri i i e 6,176,416 15,777 6,192,193
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Warrants payable..............ccooooiiviiiiiin e, 38,409 - 38,409
Accrued payroll........ooiiiiiiiiii 5,070 - 5,070
Compensated absences.............couciviviiiiiiiiiiiiiiivniin e, 2,449 - 2,449
Long-term bonds and notes payable............................oeeen. 175,000 - 175,000
Total current liabilities..........ocoiviriei e, 220,928 - 220,928
Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated absences..........oouvirieeiiiieiiiniriiar e, 22,045 - 22,045
Long-term bonds and notes payable..................c.ccooeeivnnnn. 1,925,000 - 1,925,000
Total noncurrent liabilities............coooviiiiiiiniiiinn, 1,947,045 - 1,947,045
Total liabilities........ocoviriiviiinii e 2,167,973 E 2,167,973
NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt...............cuvivnen.n. 3,682,106 - 3,682,106
L0 3 T<X] o o =T c S 326,337 15,777 342,114
TOtal NEt ASSEES. . .uesirsiees et st st resessa e e et earesesaness $ 4,008,443 $ 15,777 % 4,024,220

See notes to basic financial statements.
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PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2008

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Waste
Water Removal Total
OPERATING REVENUES
Charges fOr SEIVICES........oivviviiiiet i $ 810,263 16,600 $ 826,863
Ot 15,616 - 15,616
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES. .....oiviiiiiiniitiiiiiiieeiiseinennsnnss 825,879 16,600 842,479
OPERATING EXPENSES
Cost of service and administration...............oceuviiinriieineenrrenerernnenns 532,625 11,343 543,968
Depreciation..............ooviiiiiiiiiii 171,516 : 171,516
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES. .......ooviviniiieiiiei v 704,141 11,343 715,484
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)......ccvvviiiiiiiiiieieiiiesiie e 121,738 5,257 126,995
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Intergovernmental..............cooiii - 10,520 10,520
Investment INCOMEe. ... ... 423 - 423
INterest EXPenSe. .. .....viiiiiii i e (130,252) - (130,252)
TOTAL NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES), NET.......... (129,829) 10,520 (119,309)
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE TRANSFERS. .........coooviviviiiiiiinnennnnn, (8,091) 15,777 7,686
TRANSFERS
TTaNSTEIS DMl c .ottt 155,126 - 155,126
Transfers OUb..........oiiiveii e (140,000) - (140,000)
TOTAL TRANSFERS. ...t 15,126 - 15,126
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS, uscusssmissme v os s s s s v 7,035 15,777 22,812
NET ASSETS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR.......coveiiieeiieie e 4,001,408 - 4,001,408
NET ASSETS AT END OF YEAR .. ...oiviieiirnrisresirieressensinssnnesessnsenes $ 4,008443 % 15,777 % 4,024,220

See notes to basic financial statements.
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PROPRIETARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2008

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Waste
Water Removal Total
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from cCuStOmMErs ANd WSBTIS. ... . ivevvetierererrarrerironeraeeerntine s eaesrannn s $ 819,416 $ 16,600 $ 836,016
Payments t0 VENAOTS. ... it i e s s e (280,410) (11,343) (291,753)
Payments t0 @IPIOYEES. ... ..cvriiiiieeiiriiiee it et eeeeenetiee e e et e e et eesnteee e e e anaea e (252,732) - (252,732)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES........ccoiiiiiiiiriiciinnvininiaannen s 286,274 5,257 291,531
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
TIANSEETS M.ttt e e 155,126 - 155,126
TTANSFRIS DU 1 1eiiviitisis it ee e cie e s et et e et e e s e s e e e et b e e aetatn e e et e anne e (140,000) - (140,000)
INtErGOVEINIMENTAL. ... .\ttt ittt - 10,520 10,520
NET CASH FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES.........ooovviviiiiiiens 15,126 10,520 25,646
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Principal payments on bonds and notes (180,000) - (180,000)
INEETESE XPEISE. ... iiiiiiiie ittt ettt sttt (130,252) 2 (130,252)
NET CASH FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES................ (310,252) = (310,252)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
INVESHINENE ITICOITIE. ...t hiret vt ce et et e te e et ettt e s e et e e e e e e e e e e s e e bbb ans e b beanes 423 - 423
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS........cccooiiiiiiiiie e (8,429) 15,777 7,348
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR...........cccccvvee. e 126,713 - 126,713
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR.......coiiiiiiiiiiiiecneeeare e 5 118,284 § 15,777 % 134,061
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET CASH
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating iNCOME (l0SS).......erurreriuerisiieeeasat e e e et ee e et be e et s e e et easess e eases $ 121,738 $ 5257 $ 126,995
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net
cash from operating activities:
DEPIECIAtION. ...ttt et e 171,516 - 171,516
Changes in assets and liabilities:
WaALEr ChATEES. .. .uouiiiiiiiiii i et (6,738) = (6,738)
WAEET IBTIS. .ot iiiiiiii i i ettt 275 - 275
Warrants payable...... ... (3,869) = (3.869)
Accrued PayTOll.....cooir i (1,192) - (1.192)
Accrued compensated aDSENCES. ........vvuriirrerieerii e 4,544 - 4,544
Total AdJUSEMENES. ...t i e 164,536 = 164,536
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES.......oiciiiiiiiaeiiie e e v eerees $ 286,274 $ 5257 % 291,531

See notes to basic financial statements,
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FIDUCIARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

JUNE 30, 2008
Private
Purpose
ASSETS Trust Funds
Cash and cash equivalents...................c.oooiiie i, $ 59,866
LIABILITIES
Warrants payable............ccooieiiiiiiii 500
NET ASSETS
Held in trust for other purposes............c..coooeevvviiiiieiieienenennnen, $ 59,366

See notes to basic financial statements.
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FIDUCIARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2008

Private
Purpose
_Tiust Furds
ADDITIONS
Contributions:
Private donations.............cooiiiiiiiii i $ 7,748
Net investment income:
Interestus s i s T s e T e e S e 2,081
TOTAL ADDITIONS. ...t 9,829
DEDUCTIONS
ORer. 6,029
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS.....coviiiiiiieiieeeieans 3,800
NET ASSETS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR ..o, 55,566
NET ASSETS ATEND OF YEAR.....coooiiiiiiiiee e, $ 59,366

See notes to basic financial statements.

Town of Hamilton, Massachusetts 28 Basic Financial Statements



Notes to Basic Financial Statements For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2008

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
A. General

The basic financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (GAAP). The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the standard-
setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The significant
accounting policies are described herein.

B. Reporting Entity

The Town of Hamilton, Massachusetts (Town) is a municipal corporation that is governed by an elected Board of
Selectmen (Board).

For financial reporting purposes, the basic financial statements include all funds, organizations, agencies, boards,
commissions and institutions that are not legally separate from the Town.

The Town has also considered all potential component units for which it is financially accountable as well as
other organizations for which the nature and/ or significance of their relationship with the Town are such that
exclusion would cause the Town'’s basic financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. It has been
determined that there are no component units that require inclusion in the basic financial statements.

Joint Ventures

A joint venture is an organization (resulting from a contractual arrangement) that is owned, operated or governed
by two or more participants as a separate and specific activity subject to joint control in which the participants
retain an ongoing financial interest or ongoing financial responsibility. Joint control means that no single
participant has the ability to unilaterally control the financial or operating policies of the joint venture.

The Town participates in several joint ventures (described below) with other municipalities to pool resources and
share the costs, risks and rewards of providing goods and services to venture participants directly, or for the
benefit of the general public or specified recipients.

Hamilton-Wenham Library

During fiscal year 1998, the Town entered into an agreement with the Town of Wenham (Joint Library
Agreement) to construct and operate a joint public library to be operated under the direction of a Joint Board of
Library Trustees. The construction project was completed during fiscal year 2002, and the Joint Library began
operations during fiscal year 2002. Operating and administrative expenditures are apportioned to the Towns of
Hamilton and Wenham based on their assessed values on their last three tax recapitulation sheets. The Town of
Wenham is the administrator for all matters associated with the management and operation of the Joint Library.
Accordingly, all revenues and expenditures associated with the Joint Library are accounted for by the Town of
Wenham. During fiscal year 2008, the Town paid approximately $580,000 to the Town of Wenham to cover the
Town's portion of the operating and administrative costs.

Complete financial statements for the Town of Wenham and the Joint Library can be obtained directly from the
Town of Wenham, located at 184 Main Street, Wenham, Massachusetts, 01984.
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Hamilton-Wenham Emergency Center

The Hamilton-Wenham Emergency Center (Center) is the control point for all emergency and non-emergency
calls for public safety. Operating and administrative expenditures are apportioned to the Towns of Hamilton and
Wenham based on their assessed values on their last three tax recapitulation sheets. The Town of Hamilton is the
administrator for all matters associated with the management and operation of the Center. Accordingly, all
revenues and expenditures associated with the Center are accounted for by the Town of Hamilton. During fiscal
year 2008, the Center’s operating and administrative expenditures totaled approximately $394,000. The Town of
Wenham paid the Town of Hamilton approximately $188,000 for their share of the Center’s costs.

The Center’s activities are accounted for in the Town of Hamilton’s general fund. Neither Town has an equity
interest in the operation of the Center.

Hamilton-Wenham Recreation Department

The Towns of Hamilton and Wenham operate a joint recreation department (Department). Operating and
administrative expenditures are apportioned to the Towns of Hamilton and Wenham based on their assessed
values on their last three tax recapitulation sheets. The Town of Hamilton is the administrator for all matters
associated with the management and operation of the Department. Accordingly, all revenues and expenditures
associated with the Department are accounted for by the Town of Hamilton. During fiscal year 2008, the
Department’s operating and administrative expenditures totaled approximately $188,000. The Town of Wenham
paid the Town of Hamilton approximately $59,000 for their share of the Department’s costs.

The Department’s activities are accounted for in the Town of Hamilton’s general fund. Neither Town has an
equity interest in the operation of the Department.

Hamilton-Wenham Regional School District

The Hamilton-Wenham Regional School District (District) is governed by a six member school committee
consisting of one appointed and two elected representatives from the Town. The Town is indirectly liable for the
District’s debt and other expenditures and is assessed annually for its share of operating and capital costs.
Operating costs are apportioned amongst the Towns based on the assessed values on their last three tax
recapitulation sheets. Capital costs, including debt service, are apportioned amongst the Towns based on a
combination of the three year valuation average and pupil enrollments. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008,
the Town'’s assessment for operating and capital costs totaled approximately $13,700,000 and $751,000,
respectively.

Complete financial statements for the District can be obtained directly from the District located at Administrative
Offices, b School Street, Wenham, Massachusetts, 01984,

C. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements (statement of net assets and the statement activities) report
information on all non-fiduciary activities of the primary government. Governmental activities, which are
primarily supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type
activities, which are primarily supported by user fees.
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Fund Financial Statements

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, even
though fiduciary funds are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual
governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial
statements. Nonmajor funds are aggregated and displayed in a single column.

Fiduciary funds are reported by fund type.

D. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Basis of Presentation

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide and enterprise fund financial statements apply all applicable Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB) pronouncements issued on or prior to November 30, 1989, unless those pronouncements
conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements,

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded
when the liabilities are incurred. Real estate and personal property taxes are recognized as revenues in the fiscal
year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility
requirements imposed by the provider have been met,

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a function or segment are
offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or
segment. Program revenues include the following:

» Charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or
privileges provided by a given function or segment.

» Grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational requirements of a specific function
or segment.

» Grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the capital requirements of a specific function or
segment.

Taxes and other items not identifiable as program revenues are reported as general revenues.
Except for charges between the general fund and enterprise funds, the effect of interfund activity has been
eliminated from the government-wide financial statements. Elimination of these charges between the general

fund and enterprise fund would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the functions affected.

Fund Financial Statements

Governmental funds financial statements are reported using the flow of current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are
recognized when susceptible to accrual (i.e., measurable and available). Measurable means the amount of the
transaction can be determined and available means collectible within the current period or soon enough
thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is
incurred, except for unmatured interest on general long-term debt which is recognized when due, and certain
compensated absences and claims and judgments which are recognized when the obligations are expected to be
liquidated with current expendable available resources.
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Real estate and personal property tax revenues are considered available if they are collected within 60-days after
the end of the fiscal year. Investment income is susceptible to accrual. Other receipts and tax revenues become
measurable and available when the cash is received and are recognized as revenue at that time.

Entitlements and shared revenues are recorded at the time of receipt or earlier if the susceptible to accrual criteria
is met. Expenditure driven grants recognize revenue when the qualifying expenditures are incurred and all other
grant requirements are met.

The following major governmental funds are reported:

The general fund is the primary operating fund. It is used to account for all financial resources, except those
required to be accounted for in another fund.

The stabilization fund is a special revenue fund used to account for the accumulation of resources to provide
general and/or capital reserves. Use of this fund is subject to Town Meeting approval.

The community preservation fund is a special revenue fund used to account for the 2% local real estate tax surcharge
on nonexempt property (and matching state trust fund distribution) that can be used for open space, historic
resource and affordable housing purposes. Property exempt from the surcharge consists of the first $100,000 of
all residential property and also property owned by low-income residents or seniors with low or moderate
income as defined by Massachusetts Department of Revenue (DOR) guidelines. Disbursements from this fund
must originate from the Community Preservation Committee and be approved by Town Meeting.

The police/fire station fund is a capital projects fund used to account for financial resources used for the
construction of a new police/fire station.

The nonmajor governmental funds consist of special revenue, capital projects and permanent funds that are
aggregated and presented in the nonmajor governmental funds column on the governmental funds financial
statements. The following describes the general use of these fund types:

The special revenue fund is used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources (other than capital projects
funds or permanent funds) that are restricted by law or administrative action to expenditures for specified
purposes.

The capital projects fund is used to account for financial resources to be used for the acquisition or construction of
major capital facilities (other than those financed by enterprise funds).

The permanent fund is used to account for financial resources that are legally restricted to the extent that only
earnings, and not principal, may be used for purposes that support governmental programs.

Proprietary funds financial statements are reported using the flow of economic resources measurement focus and
use the accrual basis of accounting, whereby revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded
when the liabilities are incurred.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues
and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with
the proprietary funds principal ongoing operations. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are
reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

The following major proprietary funds are reported:

The water enterprise fund is used to account for the activities of the water department.
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The waste removal enterprise fund is used to account for the activities of the pay-as-you-throw waste removal
program.

Fiduciary funds financial statements are reported using the flow of economic resources measurement focus and
use the accrual basis of accounting. Fiduciary funds are used to account for assets held in a trustee capacity for
others that cannot be used to support the government’s programs.

The following fiduciary fund type is reported:

The private-purpose trust fund is used to account for trust arrangements, other than those properly reported in the
permanent fund, under which principal and investment income exclusively benefits individuals, private
organizations, or other governments.

E. Deposits and Investmments

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

Cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term investments with
an original maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition. Investments are carried at fair value.

F. Accounts Receivable

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

The recognition of revenue related to accounts receivable reported in the government-wide financial statements
and fund financial statements are reported under the accrual basis of accounting and the modified accrual basis of
accounting, respectively.

Real Estate Taxes, Personal Property Taxes and Tax Liens

Real estate and personal property taxes are levied and based on values assessed on January 1%t of every year.
Assessed values are established by the Board of Assessor’s for 100% of the estimated fair market value. Taxes are
due on August 1st, November 1%, February 1st and May 1st and are subject to penalties and interest if they are not
paid by the respective due date.

Real estate tax liens are processed six months after the close of the valuation year on delinquent properties and
are recorded as receivables in the fiscal year they are processed.

Motor Vehicle Excise Taxes

Motor vehicle excise taxes are assessed annually for each vehicle registered in the Town and are recorded as
receivables in the fiscal year of the levy. The Commonwealth is responsible for reporting the number of vehicles
registered and the fair values of those vehicles to the Town. The tax calculation is the fair value of the vehicle
multiplied by $25 per $1,000 of value.

Community Preservation Surcharges

Community preservation surcharges are levied annually at a rate of 2% of residents’ real estate tax bills with
exemptions for the first $100,000 of residential property and property owned by qualified persons with low
income and seniors with low or moderate income as defined by DOR guidelines. The surcharge is due with the
real estate tax on a quarterly basis each August 1%, November 1¢t, February 15t and May 15t and are subject to
penalties and interest if they are not paid by the respective due date. Overdue surcharges are included on the tax
liens processed on delinquent real estate taxes. Surcharges are recorded as receivables in the fiscal year of the
levy.
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Water Charges and Water Liens

User fees are levied biannually based on individual meter readings and are subject to penalties and interest if they
are not paid by the respective due date. Unbilled user fees are based on actual subsequent billings and are
recorded as revenue in the current period. Water liens are processed in December of each year and are included
as a lien on the property owner’s tax bill. Water charges and liens are recorded as receivables in the fiscal year of
the levy.

Departmental and Other

Departmental and other receivables primarily consist of police details and are recorded as receivables in the fiscal
year accrued.

Loans

The Health Department administers septic loan programs that provide assistance to residents to upgrade their
septic systems. Loans are recorded as receivables at the time of issuance.

G. Allowance for Uncollectible Amounts

The allowance for uncollectible amounts is estimated based on historical trends and specific account analysis for
the following accounts receivable:

Personal property taxes

Motor vehicle and other excise taxes
Departmental and other

Loans

Y VVY

The allowances applicable to the receivables identified above are immaterial at June 30, 2008 and therefore are not
reported.

The following types of accounts receivable are secured via the lien process and are considered 100% collectible.
Accordingly, an allowance for uncollectible amounts is not reported.

» Real estate taxes and tax liens
» Community preservation surcharges
» Water and water liens
Intergovernmental receivables are considered 100% collectible.

H. Inventories

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

Inventories are recorded as expenditures at the time of purchase. Such inventories are not material in total to the
government-wide and fund financial statements and therefore are not reported.

I. Restricted Assets

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

Assets are reported as restricted when limitations on their use change the nature of the availability of the asset.
Such constraints are either externally imposed by creditors, contributors, grantors, or laws of other governments,
or are imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.
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J.  Capital Assets

Government-Wide and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements

Capital assets, which consist of land, land improvements, buildings and improvements, machinery and
equipment, vehicles, library books, software and infrastructure (e.g., roads, water mains and similar items), are
reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities column of the government-wide financial
statements.

Capital assets are recorded at historical cost or at estimated historical cost if actual historical cost is not available.
Donated capital assets are recorded at the estimated fair market value at the date of donation.

All purchases and construction costs in excess of $5,000 are capitalized at the date of acquisition or construction,
respectively, with expected useful lives of greater than one year.

Depreciable assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis. The estimated useful lives of capital assets are as
follows:

Estimated
Useful
Life
Capital Asset Type (in years)
Land improvements.................. 20
Buildings and improvements...... 40 - 50
Machinery and equipment......... 5-10
Vehicles...............ccooociininnnnnn. 5-10
Library books...............c...covnnn. 10
Software...........ccoceeeiiiiiieiiinnn., 5
Infrastructure................ccccoe 20-50

The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the assets or materially extend asset
lives are not capitalized and are treated as expenses when incurred. Improvements are capitalized.

Governmental Funds Financial Statements

Capital asset costs are recorded as expenditures in the acquiring fund in the fiscal year of the purchase.
K. Interfund Receivables and Payables

During the course of its operations, transactions occur between and within funds that may result in amounts
owed between funds.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

Transactions of a buyer/ seller nature between and within governmental funds are eliminated from the
governmental activities in the statement of net assets. Any residual balances outstanding between the
governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the statement of net assets as “internal
balances”.
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Fund Financial Statements

Transactions of a buyer/seller nature between and within funds are not eliminated from the individual fund
statements. Receivables and payables resulting from these transactions are classified as “Due from other funds”
or “Due to other funds” on the balance sheet.

L. Interfund Transfers

During the course of its operations, resources are permanently reallocated between and within funds.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

Transfers between and within governmental funds are eliminated from the governmental activities in the
statement of net assets. Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-
type activities are reported in the statement of activities as “Transfers, net”.

Fund Financial Statements

Transfers between and within funds are not eliminated from the individual fund statements and are reported as
transfers in and transfers out.

M. Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue at the fund financial statement level represents billed receivables that do not meet the available
criterion in accordance with the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of
accounting. Deferred revenue is recognized as revenue in the conversion to the government-wide financial
statements (full accrual).

N. Net Assets and Fund Equity

Government-Wide Financial Statements (Net Assets)

Net assets are reported as restricted when amounts are restricted by outside parties for a specific future use.
Net assets have been “restricted” for the following:

“Community Preservation” represents amounts restricted for the purpose of acquiring land for conservation,
recreational, and affordable housing projects.

“Loans” represents outstanding septic loans receivable.

“Permanent funds - expendable” represents amounts held in trust for which the expenditures are restricted by
various trust agreements.

“Permanent funds - nonexpendable” represents amounts held in trust for which only investment earnings may
be expended.

“Other specific purposes” represents other restrictions placed on assets from outside parties.

Fund Financial Statements (Fund Balances)

Fund balances are reserved for amounts that are not available for appropriation or are legally restricted by
outside parties for a specific future use. Designations of fund balance represent tentative management plans that
are subject to change.
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Fund balances have been “reserved for” the following:

“Encumbrances and continuing appropriations” represents amounts obligated under purchase orders, contracts
and other commitments for expenditures that are being carried over to the ensuing fiscal year.

“Loans” represents outstanding septic loans receivable.

“Perpetual permanent funds” represents amounts held in trust for which only investment earnings may be
expended.

“Other specific purposes” represents other restrictions placed on assets from outside parties.
O. Long-term Debt

Government-Wide and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements

Long-term debt is reported as liabilities in the government-wide and proprietary fund statements of net assets.
Material bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-
line method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

The face amount of governmental funds long-term debt is reported as other financing sources when the debt is
issued. Bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are recognized in the current period. Bond
premiums are reported as other financing sources and bond discounts are reported as other financing uses.
Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual bond proceeds received, are reported as general
government expenditures.

P. Investment Income

Excluding the permanent funds, investment income derived from major and nonmajor governmental funds is
legally assigned to the general fund unless otherwise directed by Massachusetts General Law (MGL).

Investment income from the proprietary funds is retained in the funds.
Q. Compensated Absences

Employees are granted vacation and sick leave in varying amounts based on collective bargaining agreements,
state laws and executive policies.

Government-Wide and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements

Vested or accumulated vacation and sick leave are reported as liabilities and expensed as incurred.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Vested or accumulated vacation and sick leave, which will be liquidated with expendable available financial
resources, are reported as expenditures and fund liabilities upon employee retirements and resignations.
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R. Post Retirement Benefits

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

In addition to providing pension benefits, health insurance coverage is provided (on a pay-as-you-go basis) for
retired employees and their survivors in accordance with MGL Chapter 32. These costs are recognized by
recording the employer’s 57.5% share of insurance premiums in the general fund in the fiscal year paid. For the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, this expenditure totaled approximately $102,000. There were approximately 32
participants eligible to receive benefits at June 30, 2008,

S. Use of Estimates

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

The preparation of basic financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure for contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the basic financial statements and the reported amounts of the revenues and
expenditures/expenses during the fiscal year. Actual results could vary from estimates that were used.

T. Total Column

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The total column presented on the government-wide financial statements represents consolidated financial
information.

Fund Financial Statements

The total column presented on the fund financial statements is presented only to facilitate financial analysis. Data
in this column is not the equivalent of consolidated financial information.

NOTE 2 - STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY
A. Budgetary Information

Municipal Law requires the adoption of a balanced budget that is approved by Town Meeting vote. The Finance
Committee presents an annual budget to Town Meeting, which includes estimates of revenues and other
financing sources and recommendations of expenditures and other financing uses. Town Meeting, which has full
authority to amend and/ or reject the budget or any line item, adopts the expenditure budget by majority vote.

Increases or transfers between and within departments subsequent to the approval of the annual budget requires
majority Town Meeting approval via Special Town Meeting.

The majority of appropriations are non-continuing which lapse at the end of each fiscal year. Others are
continuing appropriations for which the governing body has authorized that an unspent balance from a prior
fiscal year be carried forward and made available for spending in the current fiscal year.

Generally, expenditures may not exceed the level of spending (salaries, expenses and capital) authorized for an

appropriation account. However, the Town is statutorily required to pay debt service, regardless of whether such
amounts are appropriated.
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An annual budget is adopted for the general fund in conformity with the guidelines described above. The
original fiscal year 2008 approved budget for the general fund authorized $23,027,819 in appropriations and other
amounts to be raised. During fiscal year 2008, supplemental appropriations totaling $59,083 were authorized.

The Accountant’s office has the responsibility to ensure that budgetary control is maintained. Budgetary control
is exercised through the accounting system.

B. Appropriation Deficits

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, expenditures for public works (snow and ice removal/flooding), state and
county charges and debt service (interest) exceeded appropriations. These over-expenditures will be funded via
the fiscal year 2009 tax levy and subsequent intergovernmental revenues.

C. Individual Fund Deficits

At June 30, 2008, the following fund deficits exist:

Fund Amount Funding Source

Police Detail........oooiii e, $ 33,768 Available funds

NOTE 3 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

The municipal finance laws of the Commonwealth authorize the Town to invest temporarily idle cash in bank
term deposits and certificates of deposits, and treasury and agency obligations of the United States government,
with maturities of one year or less; U.S. treasury or agency repurchase agreements with maturities of not more
than 90 days; money market accounts; and the state treasurer’s investment pool - the Massachusetts Municipal
Depository Trust (MMDT).

The MMDT meets the criteria of an external investment pool and operates in accordance with applicable state
laws and regulations. The Treasurer of the Commonwealth serves as Trustee. The reported value of the pool is
the same as the fair value of pool shares.

A cash and investment pool is maintained that is available for use by all funds with unrestricted cash and
investments. The deposits and investments of the permanent funds and the private purpose trust funds are held
separately from other Town funds.

Deposits - Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the Town's deposits may not be
recovered. The Town does not have a policy for custodial credit risk of deposits. As of June 30, 2008, $493,768 of
the Town's bank balance of $4,054,298 was uninsured and uncollateralized.

Investments Summary

The Town's investments at June 30, 2008 are presented below. All investments are presented by investment type,
with debt securities presented by maturity.
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Investment Maturities (in Years)

Fair Less
Investment Type Value Than 1 1-5
Debt Securities:
U.S. Agencies............ceeeevvenninnenn. $ 51,891 $ - $ 51,891
Money market mutual funds......... 15,703 15,703 -
External investment pools............. 504,343 504,343 -
Total debt securities................... $ 571,937 $ 520,046 $ 51,891

Investments - Interest Rate Risk of Debt Securities

Interest rate risk for debt securities is the risk that changes in interest rates of debt securities will adversely affect
the fair value of an investment. The Town does not have a policy for interest rate risk of debt securities.

Investments - Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the Town will
not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside
party. The Town does not have a policy for custodial credit risk of investments. As of June 30, 2008, $67,594 of
the Town’s investments of $571,937 was uninsured, not registered in the name of the Town and exposed to

custodial credit risk as follows:

Fair Held by
Investment Type Value Counterparty
U.S. Agencies......ccc.covvvvniiiiienrannn. $ 51,891 $ 51,891
Money market mutual funds......... 15,703 15,703
Total .o, $ 67,594 $ 67,594

Investments - Credit Risk of Debt Securities

Credit risk for investments is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to a debt security will not fulfill its
obligations. The Town does not have a policy for credit risk of debt securities. As of June 30, 2008, the credit
quality ratings of the Town’s investments in debt securities are as follows:

Quality
Ratings*
Fair
Investment Type Value Unrated
Money market mutual funds........ $ 15,703 15,703
External investment pools........... 504,343 504,343
Total..oooviiiiiiie $ 520,046 $ 520,046

* Per the rating scale of Standard and Poor’s (a national credit rating organization)
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NOTE 4 - ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

At June 30, 2008, receivables for the individual major governmental funds and nonmajor governmental and
fiduciary funds, in the aggregate, including the applicable allowances for uncollectible amounts, are as follows:

Allowance
Gross for Net
Amount Uncollectibles Amount
Receivables:
Real estate and personal property taxes....... $ 271,555  $ - 8 271,555
Real estate tax deferrals............................ 78,501 - 78,501
Tax Hens.....c.coovvvi i, 202,482 - 202,482
Motor vehicle and other excise taxes........... 60,835 - 60,835
Community preservation surcharges........... 3,177 - 3,177
Departmental and other............................ 38,490 - 38,490
LOANS. o0 cvvninevess s vaimmmsammsmsmessmm s mi i iass 26,176 - 26,176
$ 681,216 % - % 681,216

At June 30, 2008, receivables for the water enterprise fund consist of the following:

Allowance
Gross for Net
Amount Uncollectibles Amount
Receivables:
Water charges..............coooveeiviiiiiines $ 273,685 $ - 8 273,685
Water iens.........coooiiii i, 2,341 - 2,341
$ 276,026 $ -5 276,026

Governmental funds report deferred revenue in connection with receivables and other assets (tax foreclosures) for
revenues that are not considered to be available to liquidate liabilities of the current period. The following
identifies the various components of deferred revenue reported in the governmental funds:

Nonmajor
General Community Governmental
Fund Preservation Funds Total
Receivable type:
Real estate and personal property taxes......... $ 141,248 - % - % 141,248
Real estate tax deferrals..............cooccvviennnen. 78,501 - - 78,501
TaX HENS. .o et e e 202,482 - - 202,482
Motor vehicle and other excise taxes............. 60,835 - - 60,835
Community preservation surcharges............. - 3,177 - 3,177
Departmental and other..........c.ccovvvvnieninnnns - - 38,490 38,490
Tax forecloSUres. . .....oouvviiviiiiiiiiiieniiiersans 201,028 - - 201,028
Total...ooooivi $ 684,094 § 3,177 % 38490 5 725,761
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NOTE 5 - CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, was as follows:

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance
Governmental Activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land.............. e $ 796,875 % - % - % 796,875
Capital assets being depreciated:
Land improvements.............cc.c.coovvreeiniinnnnn, 436,773 - - 436,773
Buildings and improvements........................... 13,393,984 151,748 - 13,545,732
Machinery and equipment....................coooeen. 403,206 44414 (5,026) 442,594
Vehicles. ... 1,541,718 265,564 (117,713) 1,689,569
Library books. ..........cooeeiviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiininin, 265,666 - - 265,666
SOfWATE. .. ..ot e 20,765 . - 20,765
INfrastructure. .......oovvvniviiiceiee e, 5,531,372 254,040 - 5,785,412
Total capital assets being depreciated........... 21,593,484 715,766 (122,739) 22,186,511
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Land improvements......................ccoeeeeieneeinn, (151,255) (18,469) - (169,724)
Buildings and improvements........................... (2,929,093) (307,160) - (3,236,253)
Machinery and equipment...................ooiiiinees (284,522) (26,684) 1,508 (309,698)
Vehicles. ..o (1,150,763) (172,251) 117,713 (1,205,301)
Library books............ccooiiiiiii, (119,550) (26,567) - (146,117)
Software.........ccooiiiii (20,765) - B (20,765)
INfrastructure. ......cooo i e (3,438,833) (135,314) - (3,574,147)
Total accumulated depreciation.................. (8,094,781) (686,445) 119,221 (8,662,005)
Total capital assets being depreciated, net............... 13,498,703 29,321 (3,518) 13,524,506
Total governmental activities capital assets, net........ $ 14295578 § 29,321 § (3,518) $ 14,321,381
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For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2008

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance
Business-Type Activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land.......coiiiiiii e $ 283912 § - 5 - 5 283,912
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements..............c.c.ccournn. 3,100,000 - - 3,100,000
Machinery and equipment...............cccovvvvinnnens 52,500 - - 52,500
Vehicles......ooouviiiiiiiiiiiii e 38,812 - - 38,812
INfrastricture. ......ooovvvvieriiiiinen e 5,316,691 - - 5,316,691
Total capital assets being depreciated........... 8,508,003 - - 8,508,003
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements........................... (465,000) (62,000) - (527,000)
Machinery and equipment............c....cccoeovennnn, (32,025) (5,250) - (37,275)
Vehicles......o..oooiiiiiinii (3,881) (7,762) - (11,643)
INfrastructure. .. ....vevivviiiieireeeereeeee e (2,337,387) (96,504) - (2/433,891)
Total accumulated depreciation................... (2,838,293) (171,516) - (3,009,809)
Total capital assets being depreciated, net............... 5,669,710 (171,516) - 5,498,194
Total business-type activities capital assets, net........ $ 5953622 $  (171,516) $ - $ 5,782,106

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows:

Governmental Activities:

General government................ccocoeeiiiiniiiiinn s $ 9,417
Public safety...........c.occiiiiiiiiic 265,694
Education.............ciiiiiniiii 37,891
PUublic WOTKS.....oviviiiii e 225,742
Culture and recreation.................cccoovviivinirinnnnenn, 147,701
Total depreciation expense - governmental activities..... $ 686,445
Business-Type Activities:
Water...........o $ 171,516
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NOTE 6 - CAPITAL LEASES
The Town has entered into a capital lease agreement for a fire truck pumper under which the fire truck will
become property of the Town when all terms of the lease agreement are met. The agreement also contains early

purchase options which would allow the Town to purchase the fire truck before the end of the lease term.

The following schedule presents the future minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2008:

Fiscal Years Governmental

Ending June 30 Activities

2009....eniiii $ 39,934
2010, . 39,934
2010 39,934
Total minimum lease payments.................... 119,802
Less: amounts representing interest.............. (8,970)
Present value of minimum lease payments..... $ 110,832

The fire truck and the related accumulated amortization under capital leases are as follows:

Governmental
Activities
Asset:
Vehicle......ooooiiiiiiii $ 239,736
Less: accumulated amortization........................ (128,904)
Total....oooir $ 110,832

Amortization of the leased fire truck under capital leases is included with depreciation expense, which is
allocated functionally.
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NOTE 7 - INTERFUND TRANSFERS
Interfund transfers for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, are summarized as follows:

Transfers In:

Nonmajor Water
General Governmental Enterprise
Transfers Out: Fund Funds Fund Total
General Fund............................. $ - 5 6,301 §$ 155,126 161,427 (1)
Nonmajor Governmental Funds...... 29,418 10,925 - 40,343 (2)
Water Enterprise Fund.................. 140,000 - - 140,000 (3)
$ 169,418 $ 17,226  $ 155,126  $ 341,770

(1) Represents funding of the water loss prevention ($3,301) and child safety grant ($3,000) funds. Also represents
budgeted transfer to the water enterprise fund for debt service costs ($155,126).

(2) Represents transfers from the insurance reimbursement ($12,000); cemetery perpetual care ($10,000); recreation
revolving ($5,418); and sale of lots and graves ($2,000) funds. Also represents transfer from the clark fund

($10,925) to the conservation commission fund.

(3) Represents a budgeted transfer from the water enterprise fund ($140,000) to the general fund for indirect costs.

NOTE 8 - SHORT-TERM FINANCING
Short-term debt may be authorized and issued to fund the following:

»  Current operating costs prior to the collection of revenues through issuance of revenue anticipation notes
(RAN) or tax anticipation notes (TAN).

» Capital project costs and other approved expenditures incurred prior to obtaining permanent financing
through issuance of bond anticipation notes (BAN) or grant anticipation notes (GAN).

Short-term loans are general obligations and carry maturity dates that are limited by statute. Interest
expenditures and expenses for short-term borrowings are accounted for in the general fund and enterprise fund,
respectively.

Details related to the short-term debt activity for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, are as follows:

Origination Maturity Interest Balance at Balance at
Type Description Date Date Rate June 30, 2007 Increases Decreases June 30, 2008
RAN Revenue Anticipation... 10/10/07 11/15/07 3.90% $ - $ 1,000,000 $ (1,000000) $ .

Subsequent Events

On October 3, 2008, the Town issued $1,000,000 of revenue anticipation notes with an interest rate of 3.25% in
order to fund current operating costs. The notes, which became due on April 30, 2009, were paid in full.
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NOTE 9 - LONG-TERM DEBT
Chapter 44, Section 10, of the MGL authorizes indebtedness up to a limit of 5% of the Town's equalized valuation.
Debt issued in accordance with this section of the law is designated as being “inside the debt limit”. However,

debt may be authorized in excess of that limit for specific purposes. Such debt, when issued, is designated as
being “outside the debt limit”.

Details related to the outstanding indebtedness at June 30, 2008, and the debt service requirements are as follows:

Bonds and Notes Payable - Governmental Funds

Outstanding Outstanding
Interest at June 30, at June 30,
Project Rate % 2007 Issued Redeemed 2008
Library........ccoocooviiiiiniii 4.61 $ 1,500,000 $ -5 (120,000) $ 1,380,000
Public Safety Building................... 3.65-5.00 5,635,000 - (300,000) 5,335,000
State House Serial Loan Notes........ 5.20 250,000 - (25,000) 225,000
Total governmental funds............. $ 7,385,000 $ - % (445,000) $ 6,940,000

Debt service requirements for principal and interest for governmental bonds payable in future fiscal years are as
follows:

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total

2009.......... $ 440,000 $ 281,356 % 721,356
2010.......... 440,000 263,340 703,340
2011.......... 440,000 245,210 685,210
2012.......... 440,000 225,466 665,466
2013.......... 440,000 205,606 645,606
2014.......... 440,000 187,130 627,130
2015.......... 440,000 168,540 608,540
2016.......... 440,000 149,778 589,778
2017.......... 440,000 131,483 571,483
2018.......... 415,000 113,408 528,408
2019.......... 415,000 96,483 511,483
2020.......... 410,000 79,576 489,576
2021.......... 290,000 62,784 352,784
2022.......... 290,000 51,692 341,692
2023.......... 290,000 40,455 330,455
2024.......... 290,000 29,000 319,000
2025.......... 290,000 17,400 307,400
2026.......... 290,000 5,800 295,800
Total......... $ 6,940,000 $ 2,354,507 $ 9,294,507
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Bonds and Notes Payable - Enterprise Fund

Outstanding Outstanding
Interest at June 30, at June 30,
Project Rate % 2007 Issued Redeemed 2008
Water bonds................... 5.71 $ 2,280,000 $ - % (180,000) $ 2,100,000

Debt service requirements for principal and interest for enterprise fund bonds payable in future fiscal years are as
follows:

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total

2009.......... $ 175,000 $ 120572 $ 295,572
2010.......... 175,000 111,082 286,082
2011.......... 175,000 101,676 276,676
2012.......... 175,000 92,050 267,050
2013.......... 175,000 82,250 257,250
2014.......... 175,000 71,750 246,750
2015.......... 175,000 61,050 236,050
2016.......... 175,000 50,750 225,750
2017.......... 175,000 40,688 215,688
2018.......... 175,000 30,626 205,626
2019.......... 175,000 20,562 195,562
y10 7] PRm— 175,000 10,500 185,500
Total......... $ 2,100,000 $ 793,556 $ 2,893,556

The Town is subject to various debt limits by statute and may issue additional general obligation debt under the
normal debt limit. At June 30, 2008, the Town had no authorized and unissued debt.

Town of Hamilton, Massachusetts 47 Basic Financial Statements



Notes to Basic Financial Statements For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2008

Changes in Long-Term Liabilities

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, the following changes occurred in long-term liabilities:

Balance Balance
June 30, June 30, Current
2007 Increases Decreases 2008 Portion

Governmental Activities:
Bonds and notes payable............... $ 7,385,000 $ - $ (445,000) $ 6,940,000 $ 440,000
Capital lease obligations................ 144,975 - (34,143) 110,832 35,507
Compensated absences.................. 295,197 27,153 - 322,350 32,235
oS $ 7,825,172 % 27,153 $ (479,143) $ 7,373,182 % 507,742

Business-type Activities:

Bonds and notes payable................ $ 2,280,000 $ - $ (180,000) % 2,100,000 $ 175,000
Compensated absences.................. 19,950 4,544 - 24,494 2,449
Total......oooviiiviiii $ 2,299,950 $ 4544 $ (180,000) $ 2,124,494 % 177,449

The governmental activities long-term liabilities are generally liquidated by the general fund.

NOTE 10 - RISK FINANCING

The Town is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets; errors
and omissions; and natural disasters for which the Town carries commercial insurance,

The Town participates in a health insurance risk pool trust administered by Massachusetts Interlocal Insurance
Association (Association), which was founded to establish insurance cost stability for Massachusetts’ entities. The
Association offers a variety of premium based plans to its members with each participating governmental unit
being charged a premium for coverage based on rates established by the Association. The Town is obligated to
pay the Association its required premiums and, in the event that the Association is terminated, its pro-rata share
of a deficit, should one exist. These premium based payments are recorded as expenditures in the General Fund.

Workers’ compensation activities are recorded in the General Fund where expenditures are recognized when the
claims are expected to be paid with current expendable available resources. As of June 30, 2008, there were no
outstanding workers’ compensation claims.

NOTE 11 - PENSION PLAN

Plan Description - The Town contributes to the Essex Regional Retirement System (System), a cost-sharing
multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the Essex Regional Retirement Board.
Substantially all employees of the Town are members of the System, except for public school teachers and certain
administrators who are members of the Massachusetts Teachers Retirement System.

Chapter 32 of the MGL assigns authority to establish and amend benefit provisions of the plan. The System
provides retirement, disability and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. Cost-of-living adjustments
granted between 1981 and 1997 and any increases in other benefits imposed by the Commonwealth'’s state law
during those years are borne by the Commonwealth and are deposited into the pension fund. Cost-of-living
adjustments granted after 1997 must be authorized by the Essex Regional Retirement Board and are borne by the
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System. The System issues a publicly available report in accordance with guidelines established by the
Commonwealth’s Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission. That report may be obtained by
contacting the System located at 491 Maple Street, Danvers, Massachusetts 01923.

Funding Policy - Chapter 32 of MGL governs the contributions of plan members and the Town. Plan members
are required to contribute to the System at rates ranging from 5% to 11% of annual covered compensation. The
Town is required to pay into the System its share of the system-wide actuarial determined contribution that is
apportioned among the employers based on annual covered payroll. The Town’s contributions to the System for
the fiscal years ended June 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006 were $484,450, $458,124, and $433,190, respectively, which
equaled its required contribution for each fiscal year.

NOTE 12 - MASSACHUSETTS TEACHERS RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Public school teachers and certain administrators are members of the Massachusetts Teachers Retirement System,
to which the Town does not contribute. Pension benefits and administrative expenses paid by the Teachers
Retirement Board are the legal responsibility of the Commonwealth. The amount of these on-behalf payments
were immaterial for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, and, accordingly, are not reported in the financial
statements.

NOTE 13 - COMMITMENTS

The Town has entered into a five-year agreement with Wheelabrator, Inc. to dispose solid waste and make certain
payments (i.e. tipping fees) for such disposal at Wheelabrator, Inc.’s facility. The tipping fees payable under the
contract are as follows: fiscal year 2007 ($68.00/ ton); fiscal year 2008 ($69.50/ ton); fiscal year 2009 ($71.50/ ton);
and fiscal year 2010 ($73.00/ton). The Town'’s cost under the agreement totaled approximately $176,000 for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2008.

NOTE 14 - CONTINGENCIES

Various legal actions and claims are pending against the Town. Litigation is subject to many uncertainties, and
the outcome of individual litigated matters is not always predictable. Although the amount of liability, if any, at
June 30, 2008, cannot be ascertained, management believes any resulting liability should not materially affect the
financial position of the Town at June 30, 2008.

The Town participates in a number of federal award programs. The programs are subject to financial and
compliance audits. The amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agencies
cannot be determined at this time, although the Town expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.

NOTE 15 ~ PRIOR PERIOD RECLASSIFICATION

The beginning fund balances of the stabilization fund and nonmajor governmental funds have been restated from

zero and $2,266,946, respectively, to $598,722 and $1,668,224, respectively, to reflect the reclassification of the
stabilization fund from a nonmajor governmental fund to a major fund.
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NOTE 16 - IMPLEMENTATION OF GASB PRONOUNCEMENTS

The Town implemented the following GASB pronouncements during fiscal year 2008:

>

Statement #43, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans. The
implementation of this Statement had no impact on the financial statements.

Statement #48, Sales and Pledges of Receivables and Future Revenues and Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets and
Future Revenues. The implementation of this Statement had no impact on the financial statements.

Statement #50, Pension Disclosures. This Statement enhances pension disclosures in the notes to financial
statements (see pages 48-49) and required supplementary information (see pages 54-55) by state and local
government employers that provide pension benefits.

NOTE 17 - FUTURE IMPLEMENTATION OF GASB PRONOUCEMENTS

The GASB has issued the following statements:

>

Statement #45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than
Pensions, which is required to be implemented during fiscal year 2009. The Town is currently evaluating
the effect that this Statement will have on the basic financial statements.

Statement #49, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pollution Remediation Obligations, which is required to
be implemented during fiscal year 2009. The Town is currently evaluating the effect that this Statement
will have on its basic financial statements.

Statement #51, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Intangible Assets, which is required to be
implemented during fiscal year 2010. The Town is currently evaluating the effect that this Statement will
have on its basic financial statements.

Statement #52, Land and Other Real Estate Held as Investments by Endowments, which is required to be
implemented during fiscal year 2009. The Town is currently evaluating the effect that this Statement will
have on its basic financial statements.

Statement #53, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Derivative Instruments, which is required to be
implemented during fiscal year 2010. The Town is currently evaluating the effect that this Statement will
have on its basic financial statements.

These pronouncements will be implemented by their respective due dates.
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GENERAL FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2008

Prior Year
Encumbrances Supplemental
and Continuing Original Appropriations Final
Appropriations Budget and Transfers Budget
REVENUES
Real estate and personal property taxes..............covvviveiininneennnn. - 19,693,544 - 19,693,544
Motor vehicle and other excise taXxes.........ovvvvivvevinnieriiinnennnienns - 998,834 - 998,834
Tax Hens....coovveeernnnviiiniiiiinienne - - - -
Payments in lieu of taxes - 35,000 - 35,000
Intergovernmental ................ccoiiivninnnnns - 1,252,066 - 1,252,066
Special ASSeSSIMENES ...\ vviiiiiriiiiiiriiien e - - o -
Penalties and interest 0N tAXeS.............veviuivrriiiiiiiiinianieiisaennn - 95,500 - 95,500
Licenses, permits and fees...... - 351,580 - 351,580
Fines and forfeitures....... - 5,060 - 5,060
Departmental........... - 112,005 - 112,005
INVESEMENt INCOME. ... ..t iiiiieeri it eeentre e ereeans - 52,000 - 52,000
TOTAL REVENUES.........oovviviiiiniiii e, - 22,595,589 - 22,595,589
EXPENDITURES
Current:
General GOVEINIMENt..........ovceeeriririeiiiieriie e eeinenns 78,045 1,227,240 (28,608) 1,276,677
Public safety 135,000 2,466,856 8,383 2,610,239
Education...... - 14,595,533 - 14,595,533
Public works 76,975 1,391,056 (24,270) 1,443,761
Health and human services 1,078 134,344 (5,000) 130,422
Culture and recreation 397 728,974 105,367 834,738
Pension benefits... - 487,991 - 487,991
Employee benefits - 700,405 (9,317) 691,088
Property and liability insurance..................coooooiiiiiienn e, - 151,000 6,227 157,227
State and cOUNtY Charges.........cccoovvrveirearni v vii e - 244,339 - 244,839
Debt service:
Principal.......oocviiviiiniir i - 445,000 - 445,000
B8 (=D (T3 . - 299,455 - 299,455
TOTAL EXPENDITURES.........ccoiviiiiiiiiiiin i evcinnren s 291,495 22,872,693 52,782 23,216,970
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES. ....oxssusssisasesusunsnsssnsysnsnsmons s sinssumissnns (291,495) (277,104) (52,782) (621,381)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
B Y 3 (o) o T S e E 152,000 - 152,000
Transfers UL, ....ooiiiiiii e - (155,126) (6,301) (161,427)
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)................ - (3.126) (6,301) (9.427)
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE. ......coiiciiiiiiiinniiieiinniianiinaan (291,495) (280,230) (59,083) (630,808)
FUND BALANCE AT BEGINNING OF YEAR.....cccviaiimmcamsriereinmminns 847,531 847,531 847,531 847,531
FUND BALANCE AT END OF YEAR.........oociiiviiiiimiienericn 556,036 $ 567,301 788,448 % 216,723
See notes to required supplementary information.
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Tolal Actual and

Encumbrances Encumbrances Variance
and Continuing and Continuing Positive/
Actual Appropriations Appropriations (Negative)

$ 19,603,402 - 19,603,402 (90,142)
965,966 - 965,966 (32,868)
219,038 . 219,038 219,038
34,947 - 34,947 (53)
1,382,859 - 1,382,859 130,793
3,873 . 3,873 3,873
58,523 - 58,523 (36,977)
347,691 347,691 (3,889)
6,726 - 6,726 1,666
96,901 - 96,901 (15,104)
58,723 - 58,723 6,723
22,778,649 - 22,778,649 183,060
1,132,042 81,498 1,213,540 63,137
2,594,851 - 2,594,851 15,388
14,590,567 - 14,590,567 4,966
1,459,793 75,537 1,535,330 (91,569)
122,589 - 122,589 7,833
830,832 - 830,832 3,906
487,990 - 487,990 bl
690,984 - 690,984 104
155,108 - 155,108 2,119
245,602 245,602 (763)
445,000 - 445,000 o
357,752 - 357,752 (58.297)
23,113,110 157,035 23,270,145 (53,175)
(334,461) (157.035) (491,496) 129,885
169,418 - 169,418 17,418
(161,427) - (161,427) =
7,991 - 7,991 17,418
(326,470) (157,035) (483,505) 147,303
847,531 847,531 847,531 -

$ 521,061 $ 690,49 $ 364,026 $ 147,303
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PENSION PLAN SCHEDULES

The following schedules provide information related to the System as a whole, for which the Town is one

participating employer:
SCHEDULES OF FUNDING PROGRESS (SYSTEM)

Actuarial UAALasa
Actuarial Accrued Unfunded Percentage
Actuarial Value of Liability (AAL) AAL Funded Covered of Covered

Valuation Assets Entry Age (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll
Date (A) (B) (B-A) (A/B) © ((B-A)/C)
01/01/06 $ 261,327,047 $ 375,593,562 $ 114,266,515 69.6% $ 98,641,094 115.8%
01/01/04 229,852,971 333,396,222 103,543,251 68.9% 93,404,002 110.9%
01/01/02 218,346,198 287,390,715 69,044,517 76.0% 85,005,338 81.2%
01/01/00 190,363,700 253,847,100 63,483,400 75.0% 69,525,900 91.3%
01/01/99 180,034,700 268,386,000 88,351,300 67.1% 89,645,300 98.6%
01/01/98 151,293,900 245,965,100 94,671,200 61.5% 85,785,000 110.4%

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS (SYSTEM)

Annually
Required Percentage of
Year Ended Contributions ARC
December 31 (ARC) Contributed (%)
2002 $ 11,237,100 100
2003 11,784,852 100
2004 12,648,657 100
2005 14,609,198 100
2006 15,274,181 100
2007 16,294,571 100

The following schedule provides information related to the Town’s portion of the System’s ARC:

TOWN SHARE OF SYSTEM ARC

Percentage of Town ARC
Year Ended ARC as a Percentage of
June 30 ARC Contributed (%) System ARC (%)
2003 $ 343,387 100 3.1%
2004 370,006 100 3.1%
2005 394,545 100 3.1%
2006 433,190 100 3.0%
2007 458,124 100 3.0%
2008 484,450 100 3.0%
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NOTE A - BUDGETARY - GAAP RECONCILIATION

For budgetary financial reporting purposes, the Uniform Massachusetts Accounting System basis of accounting
(established by the Commonwealth) is followed, which differs from the GAAP basis of accounting. A
reconciliation of budgetary-basis to GAAP-basis results for the general fund for the fiscal year ended June 30,
2008, is presented below:

Revenues Expenditures

Budgetary basis as reported on the schedule of
revenues, expenditures and changes in fund
balance - budget and actual.................o.oocoii $ 22778649 $ 23,270,145

Adjustments
Net change in recording 60-day receipts..............c....c.ooeees 61,703 -

To record encumbrances and continuing appropriations....... - (157,035)

GAAP basis as reported on the statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances........................ $ 22,840,352 % 23,113,110

NOTE B - PENSION PLAN

Additional information as of the latest actuarial valuation is as follows:
Valuation date: January 1, 2006

Actuarial cost method: Entry age normal

Amortization method: Approximate level percent of payroll based on 4.5% annual increases;
except level dollar for ERI liability for certain units

Remaining amortization period: As of July 1, 2006, 2 year remaining for 1992 ERI liability; schedules as
selected by the units for 2002 ERI liability, schedules as selected by units
for 2003 ERI liability and 22 years for remaining unfunded liability.

Asset valuation method: A preliminary actuarial value is first determined by taking the actuarial
value of assets at the beginning of the year and adding assumed
investment earnings (at the assumed actuarial rate of return) and the net
new money during the year (contributions less benefits payments and
administrative expenses). Twenty percent of the difference between the
market value of assets and the preliminary actuarial value is added to
the preliminary actuarial value. In order that the actuarial value not
differ to significantly from the market value of assets, the final actuarial
value of assets must be within 20% of the market value of assets.

Actuarial assumptions:

Investment rate of return: 8.50%
Projected salary increases: 5.00%
Cost of living adjustments: 3.00% of first $12,000 of retirement income
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